
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Danville Division 
 

DANIELLE LARES, on behalf of herself and all 
individuals similarly situated,  

 

                                                      Plaintiff,  
  
v.  Civil Action No. ______________ 
  
NATIONAL GENERAL INSURANCE 
COMPANY, 

 

  
                                                       Defendant.   

 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  

 
COMES NOW Plaintiff, Danielle Lares, on behalf of herself and all individuals similarly 

situated, by counsel, and files this Complaint against Defendant, National General Insurance 

Company (“National General”). Plaintiff alleges as follows:  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. This is an action for actual damages, statutory damages, costs, and attorney’s fees 

brought pursuant to the Electronic Funds Transfer Act (“EFTA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1693-1693r. 

2. Congress enacted the EFTA in 1978 with the “primary objective” to provide for 

individual consumer rights with respect to electronic fund and remittance transfers. 15 U.S.C. § 

1693. Congress recognized that although electronic banking provides conveniences for consumers, 

it also “to a large extent does away with human contact and authorization by a consumer’s 

signature.” H.R. Rep. No. 95-1315, at 2 (1978). Consequently, electronic transactions are “much 

more vulnerable to fraud, embezzlement, and unauthorized use than the traditional payment 

methods.” Id. 

3. Accordingly, the EFTA “sets minimum safeguards for consumers who arrange for 

regular payments (such as insurance premiums or utility bills) to be deducted automatically from 
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their bank accounts.” S. Rep. No. 95-1273, at 31 (1978). For example, 15 U.S.C. § 1693e requires 

that authorizations for electronic funds transfers be made in writing, a copy of such authorization 

be provided to the consumer, and advance notice of the amount and date of the transfer be provided 

to the consumer. These safeguards protect the consumer’s control over his or her own account, see 

15 U.S.C. § 1693e, in addition to allowing the consumer to avoid the assessment of unnecessary 

overdraft fees. See S. Rep. No. 95-1273 supra, at 31 (noting that advance notifications with respect 

to the amount and date of scheduled transfers “will enable the consumer to arrange to have 

adequate funds in his account to cover the payment or to stop payment if he chooses”). 

4. This action challenges National General’s conduct of initiating electronic funds 

transfers without complying with the basic notice requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 1693e. National 

General is liable to Plaintiff and the prospective class members for their actual damages, statutory 

damages, costs, and attorney’s fees. 15 U.S.C. § 1693m. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 15 U.S.C. § 1693m.  

6. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because Ms. Lares 

resides in this District, and a substantial part of the events giving rise to her claims occurred in this 

District.  

PARTIES 

7. Plaintiff Danielle Lares is a natural person residing in this District and Division. 

She is also a “consumer” as defined by the EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(6). 

8. National General is a foreign corporation authorized to do business in the 

Commonwealth of Virginia through its registered offices in Richmond, Virginia.  
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BACKGROUND 

9. In May 2017, Ms. Lares received a notice notifying her that her auto insurance 

policy with her current insurer, Nationwide, was expiring and offering her a replacement policy 

with National General. 

10. The replacement policy from National General would be effective July 10, 2017.  

11. She also received a “New Business bill” from National General which encouraged 

her to call National General to complete the “Automatic Payments authorization.” 

12. Ms. Lares subsequently accepted the insurance policy with National General and 

enrolled in automatic payments with National General to be deposited from her bank account.  

13. In October 2017, Ms. Lares received an “Automatic Payment Schedule” from 

National General, indicating National General would debit $85.97 from her bank account on 

November 13, 2017. 

14. Ms. Lares made sure to deposit the necessary money into her account to cover all 

her expenses, including the scheduled withdrawal from National General.  

15. However, without notice to or permission from Ms. Lares, National General 

withdrew the money from her account four days early, on November 9, 2017.   

16. On or around November 14, 2017, Ms. Lares discovered that National General had 

debited $85.97 from her account on November 9, 2017, causing her to overdraft her account and 

incur overdraft fees.  

17. Ms. Lares went to her bank and spoke with a representative of the bank who 

informed her that National General requested the payment on November 9, 2017.  

18. The bank reversed the unauthorized charge and directed Ms. Lares to National 

General to pay her November bill by other means.  
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19. Ms. Lares paid National General the November payment over the phone on or 

around November 14, 2017. 

20. Shortly thereafter, Ms. Lares received a notice from National General dated 

November 15, 2017, which included an “Automatic Payments Schedule.”  

21. The Automatic Payments Schedule indicated that she would be charged her normal 

monthly premium of $85.97 on December 11, 2017, in addition to a late fee of $35.00.  

22. National General refused to waive the late fee even though it was incurred because 

of National General’s unauthorized charge to her account four days before the scheduled 

withdrawal.  

23. Again, even though her December payment and the late fee were not scheduled to 

be withdrawn from her account until December 11, 2017, National General initiated the transfer 

on her account four days early on December 7, 2017.  

24. Again, the unauthorized charge caused Ms. Lares to overdraft her account and incur 

overdraft charges.  

25. National General charged late fees to Ms. Lares’ insurance account and sent her a 

notice threatening to cancel her insurance plan if it did not receive the amounts due on her account.  

26. National General refused to refund her for the late fees that were incurred because 

of National General’s premature transfers from her account.  

COUNT ONE: 
VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a) 

(CLASS CLAIM) 

27. Ms. Lares incorporates by reference each of the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

28. Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Ms. Lares brings this 

action for herself and on behalf of a class initially defined as: 
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All persons (i) that provided National General with an automatic payment 
authorization, (ii) that received an automatic payment schedule designating a 
particular date for an electronic funds transfer; and (iii) whose account was debited 
prior to the designated date within a year of the filing of the Complaint.  

Plaintiff is a class member. 

29. Numerosity. Fed. R. Civ. P 23(a)(1). Upon information and belief, Plaintiff 

alleges that the class members are so numerous that joinder of all is impractical. The class 

members’ names and addresses are identifiable through National General’s business records, and 

the class members may be notified of the pendency of this action by published and/or mailed 

notice. 

30. Predominance of Common Questions of Law and Fact. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(2). 

Common questions of law and fact exist as to all putative class members, and there are no factual 

or legal issues that differ between the putative class members. These common questions 

predominate over the questions affecting only individual class members. The common questions 

include: (1) the frequency and persistence of National General’s noncompliance with § 1693e(a); 

(2) the extent National General’s noncompliance was intentional; and (3) whether National 

General may avoid liability through a “good faith compliance” defense. 

31. Typicality. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(3). Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of 

each putative class member. Plaintiff is entitled to relief under the same cause of action as the other 

putative class members. Additionally, Plaintiff’s claims are based on the same facts and legal 

theories as each of the class members. 

32. Adequacy of Representation. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4). Plaintiff is an adequate 

representative of the putative class because her interests coincide with, and are not antagonistic to, 

the interests of the class members she seeks to represent. Plaintiff has retained counsel competent 

and experienced in such litigation, and they intend to continue to prosecute the action vigorously. 
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Plaintiff and her counsel will fairly and adequately protect the class members’ interests. Neither 

Plaintiff nor her counsel have any interests that might cause them to not vigorously pursue this 

action. 

33. Superiority. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3). Questions of law and fact common to the 

class members predominate over questions affecting only individual members, and a class action 

is superior to other available methods for fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. The 

damages sought by each member are such that individual prosecution would prove burdensome 

and expensive. It would be virtually impossible for individual class members to effectively redress 

the wrongs done to them. Even if the class members could afford individual litigation, it would be 

an unnecessary burden on the Courts. Furthermore, individualized litigation presents a potential 

for inconsistent or contradictory judgments and increases the delay and expense to all parties and 

to the court system presented by the legal and factual issues raised by National General’s conduct. 

By contrast, the class-action device will result in substantial benefits to the litigants and the Court 

by allowing the Court to resolve numerous individual claims based on a single set of proof in a 

case. 

34. As alleged above, National General initiated an electronic funds transfer from Ms. 

Lares’ bank account prior to the agreed upon date on no less than two separate occasions.  

35. Thus, the electronic funds transfers were outside the scope of any preauthorization 

National General had obtained from Ms. Lares. 

36. National General violated 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a) by failing to obtain a 

preauthorization in writing for the electronic funds transfer and in failing to provide a copy of the 

authorization to Ms. Lares. 
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37. As a result of these violations, Ms. Lares suffered concrete and particularized 

harms. In particular, she suffered the imposition of unnecessary fees, anxiety, emotional distress, 

and frustration as a result of National General’s violations. 

38. Given National General’s refusal to refund Ms. Lares for the overdraft charges, it 

appears that National General’s violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a) were intentional, and Ms. Lares 

believes she will uncover additional information in discovery showing National General’s 

noncompliance with § 1693e(a) was intentional.  

39. Given that this occurred to Ms. Lares on no less than two separate occasions, Ms. 

Lares believes that she will uncover additional information in discovery showing that National 

General’s noncompliance with 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a) is a part of a frequent and persistent pattern. 

40. Accordingly, National General is liable to Ms. Lares and the class members for any 

actual damages, statutory damages, attorney’s fees, and costs. 15 U.S.C. § 1693m. 

COUNT TWO: 
VIOLATIONS OF 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(b) 

CLASS CLAIM  

41. Ms. Lares incorporates by reference each of the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

42. Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Ms. Lares brings this 

action for herself and on behalf of a class initially defined as: 

All persons (i) that provided National General with an automatic payment 
authorization, (ii) that received an automatic payment schedule designating a 
particular date for an electronic funds transfer; and (iii) whose account was debited 
prior to the designated date within a year of the filing of the Complaint.  

Plaintiff is a member of the class. 

43. Numerosity. Fed. R. Civ. P 23(a)(1). Upon information and belief, Plaintiff 

alleges that the class members are so numerous that joinder of all is impractical. The class 
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members’ names and addresses are identifiable through National General’s business records, and 

the class members may be notified of the pendency of this action by published and/or mailed 

notice. 

44. Predominance of Common Questions of Law and Fact. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(2). 

Common questions of law and fact exist as to all putative class members, and there are no factual 

or legal issues that differ between the putative class members. These common questions 

predominate over the questions affecting only individual class members. The common questions 

include: (1) the frequency and persistence of National General’s noncompliance with § 1693e(b); 

(2) the extent National General’s noncompliance was intentional; and (3) whether National 

General may avoid liability through a “good faith compliance” defense. 

45. Typicality. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(3). Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of 

each putative class member. Plaintiff is entitled to relief under the same cause of action as the other 

putative class members. Additionally, Plaintiff’s claims are based on the same facts and legal 

theories as each of the class members. 

46. Adequacy of Representation. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4). Plaintiff is an adequate 

representative of the putative class because her interests coincide with, and are not antagonistic to, 

the interests of the class members she seeks to represent. Plaintiff has retained counsel competent 

and experienced in such litigation, and they intend to continue to prosecute the action vigorously. 

Plaintiff and her counsel will fairly and adequately protect the class members’ interests. Neither 

Plaintiff nor her counsel have any interests that might cause them to not vigorously pursue this 

action. 

47. Superiority. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3). Questions of law and fact common to the 

class members predominate over questions affecting only individual members, and a class action 
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is superior to other available methods for fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. The 

damages sought by each member are such that individual prosecution would prove burdensome 

and expensive. It would be virtually impossible for individual class members to effectively redress 

the wrongs done to them. Even if the class members could afford individual litigation, it would be 

an unnecessary burden on the Courts. Furthermore, individualized litigation presents a potential 

for inconsistent or contradictory judgments and increases the delay and expense to all parties and 

to the court system presented by the legal and factual issues raised by National General’s conduct. 

By contrast, the class-action device will result in substantial benefits to the litigants and the Court 

by allowing the Court to resolve numerous individual claims based upon a single set of proof in a 

case. 

48. As alleged above, National General initiated an electronic funds transfer from Ms. 

Lares’ bank account prior to the designated date on no less than two separate occasions. 

49. National General violated 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(b) by failing to provide reasonable 

advance notice of the date that the preauthorized electronic funds transfer would occur. 

50. As a result of these violations, Ms. Lares suffered concrete and particularized 

harms. In particular, she suffered the imposition of unnecessary fees, anxiety, emotional distress, 

and frustration as a result of National General’s violations. 

51. Given National General’s refusal to refund Ms. Lares for the overdraft charges, it 

appears that National General’s violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(b) were intentional, and Ms. Lares 

believes she will uncover additional information in discovery showing National General’s 

noncompliance with § 1693e(b) was intentional.  
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52. Given that this occurred to Ms. Lares on no less than two separate occasions, Ms. 

Lares believes that she will uncover additional information in discovery showing that National 

General’s noncompliance with 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(b) is a part of a frequent and persistent pattern. 

53. Accordingly, National General is liable to Ms. Lares and the class members for any 

actual damages, statutory damages, attorney’s fees, and costs. 15 U.S.C. § 1693m. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court enter judgment against National General 

on behalf of herself and the class she seeks to represent for: (1) certification of this matter to 

proceed as a class action; (2) actual and statutory damages as pled herein; (3) attorney’s fees, 

litigation expenses, and costs of suit; and (4) such other relief the Court deems proper. 

TRIAL BY JURY IS DEMANDED 

Respectfully submitted, 
DANIELLE LARES 

 
By:  /s/ Kristi C. Kelly     
Kristi C. Kelly, Esq., VSB #72791 
Andrew J. Guzzo, Esq., VSB #82170 
Casey S. Nash, Esq., VSB #84261 
KELLY & CRANDALL, PLC 
3925 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 202 
Fairfax, VA 22030  
(703) 424-7572 
(703) 591-0167 Facsimile 
Email: kkelly@kellyandcrandall.com  
Email: aguzzo@kellyandcrandall.com 

      Email: casey@kellyandcrandall.com   
    

Counsel for Plaintiff 
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